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	Property Location

	Property Name:
	City Drug Store
	Inventory No.
	ME-LTC-0191

	Address:
	231-239 Sibley Avenue North
	County:
	Meeker

	City/Twp:
	Litchfield
	PIN
	27-0755000, 
27-0756000, 
27-0757000

	T-R-S Quarter:
	T119N  R31W Sec. 11  SW ¼
	Block:
	59

	USGS Quad
	Litchfield North, Minnesota
	Lot:
	26, 27, 28



	Property Information

	Architect:
	Unknown
	Style:
	Italianate

	Date Const:
	c. 1885
	Historic Context:
	Railroad and Agricultural Development 1870-1940

	Historic Use:
	Commercial
	Present Use:
	Commercial

	Property Type:
	Building
	Survey Name:
	Downtown Historic Resources Resurvey

	NR Status:
	Contributing
	NR Recommendation:
	Contributing

	Prepared by:
	William E. Stark, based on National Register nomination by Susan Granger and Kay Grossman (1996)
	Survey Date:
	October 2009



Description:
Three storefronts are located in this large, two-story, Italianate style, cream-colored brick building located at the southwestern corner of Sibley Avenue and Third Street. The main façade is divided into three four-bay sections (storefronts), each framed by vertical piers of brick quoins. Historic photographs suggest that the central third of the building may have been built first. The brick on the façade of the center section differs slightly in color from that of the southern section, and the brick on the northern third of the building has been painted. Across the top of the main and northern facades is a brick cornice comprised of two courses of corbelling and a course of dentils. Each third of the building has four tall, narrow segmental-arched window openings with brick window hoods and bracketed, smooth limestone sills. There are similar windows with brick window hoods and bracketed sills on the northern façade, where an enclosed external stairway is appended. The rear has early two-story and one-story brick additions with segmental-arched window and door openings, and newer concrete block and frame additions. 

Each of the three storefronts have been altered to some extent, although they all continue to serve a storefront purpose with entrances and display windows. The south storefront has a recessed entry flanked by display windows set on brick faced walls, and is covered by a shake-shingle pent eave. The center storefront appears to date from c. 1930, has a recessed entry flanked by angled display windows, fluted metal sheathing, and side entry access to the second floor.  The northern storefront partially wraps around the corner, and includes metal-framed windows and door, and rustic slab wood siding. The corner cast iron column is visible through the corner window.

History:
Although the buildings appear to have been built in phases based on the physical evidence and historic photographs, Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps indicate that they were all constructed by 1887.  The City Drug Store was one of the first occupants of the middle storefront before the northern and southern storefronts were added. The southern storefront was a bank and insurance office in 1887 and an insurance office between at least 1896 and 1917. The middle storefront was a drugstore in 1887, an unidentified store in 1896, and a bakery and confectionery between at least 1903 and 1917. For many years the middle storefront was “Jude” Harris’ Confectionery, then Waller Drug, and in the 1940s, Johnson Drug. The northern storefront was a grocery in 1887, a millinery in 1896, vacant in 1903, and a variety store in 1913 and 1917. The northern storefront was once J. C. Jack’s Ben Franklin store (the second Ben Franklin store in the U.S., established in 1904), followed by Marlow Abdnor’s hardware store, and Falknor’s Appliance. The second story of the building has housed the A.O.U.W. (Ancient Order of United Workmen) Hall, offices, and a printing shop, and was a business college in 1903. There was once a shed and a 1 ½ story ice house at the rear of the lot (razed). 
The building has experienced several fires and storms over its lifetime.  In 1907, the Newburg Bakery caught fire in an addition to the rear of the center building, causing smoke damage in all three buildings (Independent Review, 19 February 1907).  In 1993, a storm whipped through Litchfield, causing damage to the southern part of the building, tearing bricks off the roof area, resulting in water damage to the photography studio in the building (Independent Review, 4 August 1993). 

Evaluation:
This triple building is a contributing property to the Litchfield Commercial Historic District.

Integrity: Good
The overall integrity of this triple building is good, with the upper stories remaining largely intact to display the Italianate style and original design. Most second-story window units have been replaced, and in the southern building they have also been resized.  All storefronts have been replaced from their original configurations, but continue to exhibit display windows and retail access, in the spirit of the original use.

Condition:
A number of condition issues were observed in this building.  At the cornice, several bricks were noticed missing and deteriorated, and the mortar is in bad need of repointing. Replacement of coping on the parapet wall would aid in protecting these materials.  A failed arch has resulted in cracking in the brick wall, and possible evidence of settling was noted. The middle building appears to have used a different stone material for its window lintels, which are showing signs of deterioration. The Platteville limestone base is also deteriorating.
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